
CITY OF WHITEHORSE DATE: February 24, 2020
REGULAR Council Meeting #2020-04 TIME: 5:30 p.m.

Mayor Dan Curtis
Deputy Mayor Stephen Roddick

Reserve Deputy Mayor Laura Cabott

AGENDA
CALL TO ORDER 5:30 p.m.

AGENDA Adoption

PROCLAMATIONS

MINUTES Regular Council Meeting #2020-03 dated February 10, 2020

DELEGATIONS

PUBLIC HEARING

STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS
City Operations Committee – Councillors Hartland and Cabott
Community Services Committee – Councillors Curteanu and Boyd

Citizen Appointment to the Recreation Grant Task Force
Public Health and Safety Committee – Councillors Roddick and Stick
Development Services Committee – Councillors Boyd and Curteanu
Corporate Services Committee – Councillors Cabott and Roddick

Amend 2019-2022 Umbrella Capital Budget Bylaw
Procurement Policy – For Information Only
Council Summaries for 2019

City Planning Committee – Councillors Stick and Hartland
Renaming College Drive as University Drive

NEW AND UNFINISHED BUSINESS

BYLAWS
2020-06 Fees and Charges Amendment (Incentives Policy) 3rd Reading
2020-08 Local Improvement Charges (Urban Electrification) 3rd Reading
2020-09 Change Name of College Drive to University Drive 1st & 2nd Reading
2020-13 Amend 2019 Umbrella Capital Budget Amendment Bylaw 1st & 2nd Reading

ADJOURNMENT



1

MINUTES of REGULAR Meeting #2020-03 of the council of the City of Whitehorse called for 
5:30 p.m. on Monday, February 10, 2020, in Council Chambers, City Hall.

PRESENT: Mayor Dan Curtis
Deputy Mayor Laura Cabott

Councillors Dan Boyd
Jocelyn Curteanu
Samson Hartland
Stephen Roddick
Jan Stick

ALSO PRESENT: City Manager Linda Rapp
Director of Community and Recreation Services Jeff O’Farrell

Director of Corporate Services Valerie Braga
Director of Development Services Mike Gau

Director of Infrastructure and Operations Peter O’Blenes
Manager of Legislative Services Catherine Constable

Acting Manager of Strategic Communications Jordan Lutz

Mayor Curtis called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. CALL TO ORDER

2020-03-01
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT the agenda be adopted as presented.

Carried Unanimously

AGENDA

2020-03-02
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT the minutes of the regular council meeting dated January 27, 2020
be adopted as presented.

Carried Unanimously

MINUTES
January 27, 2020

COMMITTEE REPORTS

City Operations Committee

2020-03-03
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT the Mayor be authorized to sign on behalf of the City of 
Whitehorse the Infrastructure Agreement with the Government of 
Yukon with respect to the Hillcrest Water Supply Project.

Carried Unanimously

INFRASTRUCTURE
AGREEMENT WITH YG

Hillcrest Water Supply Project



City of Whitehorse
Monday, February 10, 2020 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING #2020-03

2

Community Services Committee

There was no report from the Community Services Committee. No Report

Public Health and Safety Committee

There was no report from the Public Health and Safety Committee. No Report

Development Services Committee

Matthew Trickett addressed the Committee to provide a packet of 
information regarding climate change issues.  He stated the opinion
that it is contradictory for Council to declare a climate change 
emergency and then host 2,000 amateur athletes in the Arctic Winter 
Games competitions, given the large carbon footprint of such events.
Mr. Trickett also stated that, while the forests around Whitehorse need 
to be cleaned up due to the wildfire risk, healthy trees should not be 
cut down as they are carbon-beneficial.

MATTHEW TRICKETT
Climate Change Issues

For Information Only

Corporate Services Committee

Gabriele Watts addressed the Committee to bring awareness to the 
City’s Senior Property Tax Deferment Program.  She stated that most 
people are aware of other City initiatives for seniors, but the Property 
Tax Deferment Program is virtually unknown.
Ms. Watts encouraged the City to provide better communication about 
the program and suggested that the information be included with the 
property tax notices.

GABRIELE WATTS
Senior Property Tax 
Deferment Program

For Information Only

2020-03-04
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT the remaining funds from the 2019 capital budget for the SCADA 
Program Project be re-budgeted to 2020 in an amount up to $501,050; 
and
THAT Administration be authorized to award the contract for the 2019 
Quartz Road Lift Station/Livingstone Trail Environmental Control Facility 
Outfall Flow Meter SCADA Project to Jaytech Electrical & Controls for a 
net cost to the City of $164,025 plus GST.

Carried Unanimously

CAPITAL RE-BUDGET &
CONTRACT AWARD

Quartz Road SCADA



City of Whitehorse
Monday, February 10, 2020 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING #2020-03

3

2020-03-05
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT the remaining funds from the 2019 capital budget for the Trail Plan 
Update project be re-budgeted to 2020 in an amount up to $70,000; and
THAT Administration be authorized to award the contract for consulting 
services for the Trail Plan Update project to LEES + Associates for a net 
cost to the City of $69,741 plus GST.

Carried Unanimously

CAPITAL RE-BUDGET &
CONTRACT AWARD

Trail Plan Update

2020-03-06
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT the application under the urban electrification program for Lot
28 Raven’s Ridge Subdivision be accepted; and
THAT Bylaw 2020-08, a bylaw to authorize a local improvement 
charge for urban electrification at 190 War Eagle Way in the Raven’s 
Ridge Subdivision, be brought forward for consideration under the 
bylaw process.

Carried Unanimously

APPLICATION FOR
URBAN ELECTRIC

LOCAL IMPROVEMENT

190 War Eagle Way

2020-03-07
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT the appointment of Councillor Jocelyn Curteanu as a Council 
representative to the Association of Yukon Communities, for the period 
November 1, 2019 to October 31, 2020, be rescinded.

Carried Unanimously

RESCIND COUNCIL
APPOINTMENT TO AYC

2020-03-08
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT travel and per diem expenses be authorized for Councillors 
Boyd, Curteanu and Roddick to attend the 2020 Federation of 
Canadian Municipalities Annual Conference and Trade Show to be 
held in Toronto, Ontario in June.

Carried Unanimously

COUNCIL TRAVEL
FCM Annual Conference

City Planning Committee

2020-03-09
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT Bylaw 2019-20, a bylaw to make several edits to the CNC2 zone 
on Keno Way in the Whistle Bend neighbourhood, be brought forward 
for second and third reading under the bylaw process; and

…/continued

BRING FORWARD AND 
AMEND BYLAW 2019-20

CNC2 Zone on Keno Way



City of Whitehorse
Monday, February 10, 2020 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING #2020-03

4

2020-03-09 (Continued)
THAT Bylaw 2019-20 be amended at second reading to remove 
changes to residential parking requirements in the CNC2 zone.

Carried Unanimously

BRING FORWARD AND 
AMEND BYLAW 2019-20
CNC2 Zone on Keno Way

(Continued)

Councillor Boyd declared a conflict of interest with respect to Bylaw 
2019-21 and left Council Chambers during discussion of the matter. Conflict Declared

2020-03-10
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT Bylaw 2019-21, a bylaw to amend the zoning of 468 Range 
Road and a portion of 25 Rhine Way in the Takhini neighbourhood to 
allow for a boundary realignment and reduced parking requirements 
for a supportive housing development, be brought forward for second 
and third reading under the bylaw process; and
THAT Bylaw 2019-21 be amended at second reading to maintain the 
minimum parking requirements in accordance with Zoning Bylaw 
2012-20; and
THAT Bylaw 2019-21 be amended at second reading to increase the 
boundary realignment area from 557 m2 to 888 m2.

Carried Unanimously

BRING FORWARD AND 
AMEND BYLAW 2019-21

25 Rhine Way and
468 Range Road

A member of council thanked the developer for a positive response to 
concerns raised by area residents, but noted that council will continue to 
be challenged with parking constraints as the City continues to grow.
Another council member thanked residents for their input with respect to 
this bylaw, and stated the opinion that a parking management plan is 
needed for areas adjacent to such developments as developers should 
not be allowed to push private needs for parking onto City streets.

Discussion

Councillor Boyd returned to Council Chambers. Conflict Over

A Committee member advised that February 2 to 8, 2020 is International 
Development Week and local organizations are holding events to 
celebrate the 30th anniversary of this initiative to support sustainable 
development.

INTERNATIONAL 
DEVELOPMENT WEEK

For Information Only

A Committee member commended administration on the Climate 
Change Emergency report recently shared with Council and asked 
when the report will be released to the public.  Administration advised 
that an administrative report will be prepared for a future Standing 
Committee meeting.

CLIMATE CHANGE
EMERGENCY REPORT

For Information Only



City of Whitehorse
Monday, February 10, 2020 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING #2020-03

5

A Committee member noted that Climate Change Emergency issues will 
be considered during the upcoming strategic priorities sessions and 
asked when the updated strategic priorities will be finalized.
Administration advised that finalization will depend on how quickly 
Council members can confirm their priorities.  The priorities could be 
shared shortly after the planning sessions are finished, but the public 
document could take a few weeks longer to produce.

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES

For Information Only

NEW AND UNFINISHED BUSINESS

The long-term vision for development in Whitehorse is established in 
the Official Community Plan, with the policy on residential 
development being to promote a city-wide compact development 
pattern. In 2019, Council adopted Attainable Housing as one of its six 
Strategic Priorities.
The proposed Housing Development Incentives Policy is meant to 
build on the success of the original Development Incentives Policy and 
more closely align with municipal priorities and goals.  This will be 
done by targeting assistance to residential projects that address gaps 
in the housing continuum or increase development in targeted 
locations.
The proposed policy targets assistance towards supportive housing 
and private market rental housing projects.  It continues the ten-year 
tax grant for rental or supportive housing projects of four or more units
that was established in the existing policy, and expands the assistance 
available for these types of projects by also waiving the Development 
Cost Charges that would normally apply.
In particular areas of the city, the proposed policy also encourages 
developers and property owners to take greater advantage of the 
density allowed on their lots under the Zoning Bylaw.  This includes 
areas close to amenities and areas that are already zoned for medium 
or high density residential development.

HOUSING 
DEVELOPMENT 

INCENTIVES POLICY

For Information Only

2020-03-11
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT the Housing Development Incentives Policy be accepted as 
presented; and
THAT the associated bylaw to amend the Fees and Charges Bylaw to 
reflect the provisions of the Housing Development Incentives Policy be 
brought forward for consideration under the bylaw process.

ADOPT HOUSING 
DEVELOPMENT 

INCENTIVES POLICY



City of Whitehorse
Monday, February 10, 2020 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING #2020-03

6

2020-03-12
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT the Housing Development Incentives Policy be amended by 
deleting the existing Policy Statement and substituting therefore a new 
Policy Statement as follows:
“Creating attainable housing for citizens is a priority for the City and is 
supported in Council’s Strategic Priorities, the Sustainability Plan, and 
the Official Community Plan.
The policy aligns with municipal priorities and goals by targeting 
assistance to residential projects that either: (a) address gaps in the 
housing continuum; or (b) increase development in targeted locations.
In practice, this policy will provide financial incentives for residential 
developments that provide rental or supportive housing, smaller, high 
density residential units, and residential units located near community 
services, such as schools, parks, and commercial centres.
Supportive housing and private market rental housing are identified as 
a gap in the housing continuum in the Yukon Housing Action Plan.
Providing density in neighbourhoods supports the viability of 
community services such as schools, and commercial centres, and 
ensures that City services and infrastructure are used more efficiently.
Financial support for housing will be accomplished primarily through 
incentives in the form of Development Cost Charge reductions and/or 
ten-year tax grants.
Development Cost Charge reductions are an upfront financial benefit 
that can reduce the development cost of market housing, and can be 
passed on to homeowners.
Tax grants provide a long term benefit for rental and supportive 
housing projects by reducing operating costs.
For greater certainty, in the case of a mixed-use development, the City 
will only provide financial incentives for residential components of the 
development.”

Carried Unanimously

Amendment

The main motion (to adopt the policy and bring forward the associated 
Fees and Charges Amendment Bylaw under the bylaw process) was 
then voted on as amended.

Carried Unanimously

Vote on Main Motion



City of Whitehorse
Monday, February 10, 2020 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING #2020-03

7

BYLAWS

2020-03-13
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT Bylaw 2019-20, a bylaw to amend the Comprehensive 
Neighbourhood Commercial 2 zone on Keno Way in the Whistle Bend 
neighbourhood, be given second reading.

BYLAW 2019-20
ZONING AMENDMENT

CNC2 Zone on Keno Way

SECOND READING

A council member stated that parking will continue to be an issue for 
the City, which signals a need for improvements to the transit system.  
It was noted that this is a budget item that council will need to address.  
Another council member suggested that council needs to keep looking 
for better options with respect to parking management.

Discussion

2020-03-14
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT Section 4 of Bylaw 2019-20 be amended by changing 
subsection 10.10.6 g) to read, “The off-street vehicle parking, loading, 
and bicycle parking provisions for commercial uses are modified as 
per section 7.3.7.”

Carried Unanimously

Amendment

The main motion, being second reading of Bylaw 2019-20, was then 
voted on as amended.

Carried Unanimously
Vote on Main Motion

2020-03-15
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT Bylaw 2019-20, a bylaw to amend the Comprehensive 
Neighbourhood Commercial 2 zone on Keno Way in the Whistle Bend 
neighbourhood, having been read a first and second time, now be given 
third reading as amended.

Carried Unanimously

BYLAW 2019-20
ZONING AMENDMENT

CNC2 Zone on Keno Way

THIRD READING

Councillor Boyd declared a conflict of interest with respect to Bylaw 
2019-21 and left Council Chambers during discussion of the matter. Conflict Declared



City of Whitehorse
Monday, February 10, 2020 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING #2020-03

8

2020-03-16
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT Bylaw 2019-21, a bylaw to amend the zoning at 468 Range Road 
and a portion of 25 Rhine Way to allow for a boundary realignment and 
the development of an assisted living complex, be given second reading.

BYLAW 2019-21
ZONING AMENDMENT

25 Rhine/468 Range

SECOND READING

Council members commended the developer for adapting the plans 
for this project in response to the concerns of the community. Discussion

2020-03-17
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT Bylaw 2019-21 be amended by deleting existing sections 1 to 4 
inclusive, substituting therefore a new section 1, and renumbering the 
remaining section accordingly.  The new section 1 shall read as follows:
“1. The zoning maps attached to and forming part of Zoning Bylaw 

2012-20 are hereby amended by changing the zoning of an 888 m2

portion of Lot 426, Plan 2018-0037, located at 25 Rhine Way in the 
Takhini neighbourhood, from RCM2–Comprehensive Residential 
Multiple Family 2 to CM1–Mixed Use Commercial, as indicated on 
the sketch attached hereto as Appendix “A” and forming part of this 
bylaw.”

Carried Unanimously

Amendment

While voting in favour of the amendment, a council member expressed 
reluctance to support changes that give greater priority to parking issues 
than to residential units.

Discussion

The main motion, being second reading of Bylaw 2019-21, was then 
voted on as amended.

Carried Unanimously
Vote on Main Motion

2020-03-18
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT Bylaw 2019-21, a bylaw to change the zoning of a portion of the 
property located at 25 Rhine Way in the Takhini Neighbourhood to 
allow for a boundary realignment and the development of an assisted-
living complex at 468 Range Road, having been read a first and second 
time, now be given third reading as amended.

Carried (5 – 1)

BYLAW 2019-21
ZONING AMENDMENT

25 Rhine Way

THIRD READING

Councillor Roddick stated that his negative vote is because the bylaw 
increases the number of parking spaces and consequently reduces 
the development potential of the remainder of the lot at 25 Rhine Way.

Discussion



City of Whitehorse
Monday, February 10, 2020 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING #2020-03

9

IN FAVOUR Mayor Curtis, Councillors Cabott, Curteanu, Hartland 
and Stick

OPPOSED Councillor Roddick
Recorded Vote

Councillor Boyd returned to Council Chambers. Conflict Over

2020-03-19
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT Bylaw 2020-06, a bylaw to amend the Fees and Charges Bylaw 
to reflect the Housing Development Incentives Policy, be given first 
reading.

Carried Unanimously

BYLAW 2020-06
FEES & CHARGES

Housing Incentives Policy

FIRST READING

2020-03-20
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT Bylaw 2020-06 be given second reading.

Carried Unanimously

BYLAW 2020-06
SECOND READING

2020-03-21
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT Bylaw 2020-08, a bylaw to authorize local improvement charges 
for urban electrification at 190 War Eagle Way in the Raven’s Ridge 
Subdivision, be given first reading.

Carried Unanimously

BYLAW 2020-08
URBAN ELECTRIC LIC

190 War Eagle Way

FIRST READING

2020-03-22
It was duly moved and seconded
THAT Bylaw 2020-08 be given second reading.

Carried Unanimously

BYLAW 2020-08
SECOND READING

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 6:32 p.m. ADJOURNMENT



Minutes of the meeting of the
City Operations Committee

Date February 17, 2020 2020-04

Location Council Chambers, City Hall

Committee
Members
Present

Councillor Samson Hartland – Chair
Councillor Laura Cabott – Vice Chair
Deputy Mayor Stephen Roddick
Councillor Dan Boyd
Councillor Jan Stick – Electronic Participation

Absent Mayor Dan Curtis
Councillor Jocelyn Curteanu

Staff
Present

Linda Rapp, City Manager
Jeff O’Farrell, Director of Community and Recreation Services
Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services
Patrick Ross, Acting Director of Development Services
Peter O’Blenes, Director of Infrastructure and Operations
Catherine Constable, Manager of Legislative Services
Jordan Lutz, Acting Manager of Strategic Communications

Your Worship, the City Operations Committee respectfully submits the following report:

1. Snow Removal – For Information Only
A Committee member advised that the snow removal crews are working hard to deal 
with the unusually large amount of snow that the City received last week.  When a major 
snowfall such as this happens, priority must be given to clearing main arteries and 
transit routes, so residential clearing may be delayed.  The snow clearing crews were 
commended for the work being done.



Minutes of the meeting of the
Community Services Committee

Date February 17, 2020 2020-04

Location Council Chambers, City Hall

Committee
Members
Present

Councillor Dan Boyd – Chair
Deputy Mayor Stephen Roddick
Councillor Laura Cabott
Councillor Samson Hartland
Councillor Jan Stick – Electronic Participation

Absent Mayor Dan Curtis
Councillor Jocelyn Curteanu

Staff
Present

Linda Rapp, City Manager
Jeff O’Farrell, Director of Community and Recreation Services
Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services
Patrick Ross, Acting Director of Development Services
Peter O’Blenes, Director of Infrastructure and Operations
Catherine Constable, Manager of Legislative Services
Krista Mroz, Manager of Recreation and Facility Services
Jordan Lutz, Acting Manager of Strategic Communications

Your Worship, the Community Services Committee respectfully submits the following 
report:

1. Citizen Appointment to the Recreation Grant Task Force
The Recreation Grant Task Force reviews recreation grant applications and makes 
recommendations for grant funding.  The task force consists of up to eight members 
who are appointed by council.  In response to advertising done to replace a task force 
member who resigned last year, one application was received.  The applicant has a 
variety of experience working as a volunteer, and his skills in research, communication 
and stakeholder engagement make him an excellent candidate.  The initial appointment 
will be for the remainder of the out-going member’s term of office.
The recommendation of the Community Services Committee is
THAT Jacob Rohloff be appointed to the Recreation Grant Task Force for a term to 
expire October 31, 2022.



Minutes of the meeting of the
Public Health and Safety Committee

Date February 17, 2020 2020-04

Location Council Chambers, City Hall

Committee
Members
Present

Councillor Samson Hartland – Chair
Deputy Mayor Stephen Roddick
Councillor Dan Boyd
Councillor Laura Cabott
Councillor Jan Stick – Electronic Participation

Absent Mayor Dan Curtis
Councillor Jocelyn Curteanu

Staff
Present

Linda Rapp, City Manager
Jeff O’Farrell, Director of Community and Recreation Services
Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services
Patrick Ross, Acting Director of Development Services
Peter O’Blenes, Director of Infrastructure and Operations
Catherine Constable, Manager of Legislative Services
Jordan Lutz, Acting Manager of Strategic Communications

Your Worship, the Public Health and Safety Committee respectfully submits the 
following report:

1. Sidewalk Snow Clearing – For Information Only
In response to a query from a Committee member, administration advised that Bylaw 
Services staff have been busy dealing with complaints received regarding non-
compliance with the Maintenance Bylaw.  The bylaw states that commercial premises 
must clear adjacent sidewalks by 11:00 a.m. on the day after a snowfall, and residential 
premises are required to clear adjacent sidewalks with 48 hours after a snowfall.



Minutes of the meeting of the
Development Services Committee

Date February 17, 2020 2020-04

Location Council Chambers, City Hall

Committee
Members
Present

Councillor Dan Boyd – Chair
Deputy Mayor Stephen Roddick
Councillor Laura Cabott
Councillor Samson Hartland
Councillor Jan Stick – Electronic Participation

Absent Mayor Dan Curtis
Councillor Jocelyn Curteanu

Staff
Present

Linda Rapp, City Manager
Jeff O’Farrell, Director of Community and Recreation Services
Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services
Patrick Ross, Acting Director of Development Services
Peter O’Blenes, Director of Infrastructure and Operations
Catherine Constable, Manager of Legislative Services
Jordan Lutz, Acting Manager of Strategic Communications

Your Worship, the Development Services Committee respectfully submits the following 
report:

1. Climate Change – For Information Only
Matthew Trickett addressed the Committee to follow up on the packet of information that 
he presented at the last Standing Committee meeting, specifically highlighting some of 
the weather modification patterns included in that information.  He suggested that 
council ban the use of pesticides and herbicides within the City, and re-examine the 
amount of money being spent on winter lights and fire smart initiatives.



Minutes of the meeting of the
Corporate Services Committee

Date February 17, 2020 2020-04

Location Council Chambers, City Hall

Committee
Members
Present

Councillor Laura Cabott – Chair
Deputy Mayor Stephen Roddick
Councillor Dan Boyd
Councillor Samson Hartland
Councillor Jan Stick – Electronic Participation

Absent Mayor Dan Curtis
Councillor Jocelyn Curteanu

Staff
Present

Linda Rapp, City Manager
Jeff O’Farrell, Director of Community and Recreation Services
Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services
Patrick Ross, Acting Director of Development Services
Peter O’Blenes, Director of Infrastructure and Operations
Lindsay Schneider, Manager of Financial Services
Catherine Constable, Manager of Legislative Services
Jordan Lutz, Acting Manager of Strategic Communications

Your Worship, the Corporate Services Committee respectfully submits the following 
report:

1. Amend 2019 – 2022 Umbrella Capital Budget Bylaw
Late in December 2019 council authorized a budget increase and construction contract 
award for the Mount McIntyre Ski Bridge repair project.  This budget increase was 
inadvertently omitted from the Umbrella Capital Budget Amendment Bylaw that came 
forward in January of this year.  In accordance with the Municipal Act, and the 2019 to 
2022 Capital Budget Bylaw, an amendment to the umbrella bylaw is required to capture 
the total number of amendments made to the capital budget in 2019.

The recommendation of the Corporate Services Committee is
THAT Bylaw 2020-13, a bylaw to amend the 2019 to 2022 Umbrella Capital Budget 
Amendment Bylaw, be brought forward for consideration under the bylaw process.



Minutes of the Meeting of the Corporate Services Committee
February 17, 2020 Page 2

2. Procurement Policy – For Information Only
The City’s Purchasing and Sales Policy is currently out of date and insufficient as a 
guide for the procurement process as there have been changes in procurement law 
since the current policy was adopted.  Additionally, global trends with procurement now 
include environmental, social and economic factors.  The proposed Procurement Policy 
aims at ensuring a consistent, fair, transparent and publicly available process while 
providing preference to local businesses.  It was formulated using the principles of 
compliance, access, transparency, fairness, best value, efficient and effective 
procurement, local procurement, and sustainable procurement.
Representatives from the Whitehorse Chamber of Commerce addressed the Committee 
to state that the policy as written does not support local business and therefore does not 
provide value to the local economy.  They also raised concerns with the provisions for 
percentage incentives for local businesses and the alteration of council’s role in the 
procurement process.
Kirk Cameron also spoke against the changes to council’s role in the procurement 
process.  He suggested that legal advice is needed before proceeding with a policy that 
moves responsibility for decision making on procurement contracting from council to the 
unelected and non-accountable City administration.
Following discussion on several specific aspects of the proposed policy, the Committee 
chair polled Committee members and then ruled that this matter is not ready to come 
forward to council.  The Committee will have further discussions with administration to 
determine next steps.

3. Council Summaries for 2019
The Council Procedures Bylaw requires administration to annually provide summary 
reports on the attendance, expense claims, travel and voting records for each member 
of council.  These reports are intended to provide a report card on the activities of 
council members and contribute to transparency with respect to the conduct of council.
The summary reports for the 2019 calendar year provide details for all council members 
with respect to these issues.

The recommendation of the Corporate Services Committee is
THAT the council member summary reports on attendance, expense claims, travel and 
voting records for the 2019 calendar year be accepted as presented.



Minutes of the meeting of the
City Planning Committee

Date February 17, 2020 2020-04

Location Council Chambers, City Hall

Committee
Members
Present

Councillor Samson Hartland – Chair
Deputy Mayor Stephen Roddick
Councillor Dan Boyd
Councillor Laura Cabott
Councillor Jan Stick – Electronic Participation

Absent Mayor Dan Curtis
Councillor Jocelyn Curteanu

Staff
Present

Linda Rapp, City Manager
Jeff O’Farrell, Director of Community and Recreation Services
Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services
Patrick Ross, Acting Director of Development Services
Peter O’Blenes, Director of Infrastructure and Operations
Catherine Constable, Manager of Legislative Services
Jordan Lutz, Acting Manager of Strategic Communications

Your Worship, the City Planning Committee respectfully submits the following report:

1. Zoning Amendment Issues – For Information Only
Barbara Scheck addressed the Committee to express concerns regarding the rezoning 
process, specifically with respect to the recent rezoning on Rhine Way and Range Road 
in the Takhini Neighbourhood.  She asked why both the boundary alignment and the 
zoning change were considered together as one application, and questioned the 
rationale for not having a second public hearing after the developer revised the plans for 
the development.  Ms. Scheck also expressed concern that the developer could make 
more changes to the plan now that the rezoning process is complete.

2. Renaming College Drive to University Drive
Yukon College has requested that the public portion of the existing College Drive be 
renamed as University Drive to coincide with Yukon University’s official launch.  The 
proposed name is compliant with the requirements of the Municipal Addressing and 



Minutes of the Meeting of the City Planning Committee
February 17, 2020 Page 2

Naming Policy and associated Guidelines and Procedures. The Development Review 
Committee reviewed the proposed name change and no concerns were identified.

The recommendation of the City Planning Committee is
THAT Bylaw 2020-09, a bylaw to rename College Drive as University Drive, be brought 
forward for consideration under the bylaw process.



CITY OF WHITEHORSE
BYLAW 2020-06

A bylaw to amend Fees and Charges Bylaw 2014-36

WHEREAS all City of Whitehorse municipal fees and charges are consolidated into 
one bylaw; and

WHEREAS section 220 of the Municipal Act (R.S.Y. 2002) provides that council 
may by bylaw amend or vary bylaws; and

WHEREAS it is deemed desirable that the Fees and Charges Bylaw be amended 
to reflect the provisions of the Housing Development Incentives Policy;

NOW THEREFORE the council of the municipality of the City of Whitehorse, in 
open meeting assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS:

1. The fee schedule attached to and forming part of Fees and Charges Bylaw 
2014-36 is hereby amended by repealing existing Schedule 9 (Planning) and 
substituting therefore a new Schedule 9 attached hereto as Appendix “A” and 
forming part of this bylaw.

2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect upon final passage thereof.

FIRST and SECOND READING: February 10, 2020
THIRD READING and ADOPTION:

______________________________
Mayor

______________________________
Assistant City Clerk



CITY OF WHITEHORSE
BYLAW 2020-06

Explanatory Notes
The attached bylaw amends the Fees and Charges Bylaw to reflect changes 
required as part of adoption of a new Housing Development Incentives Policy.

The changes are highlighted and include new and amended fees.

Delete Development Agreement Fees for Minor Incentives;

Amend Development Agreement Fees for Standard/Major Incentives to read 
‘Rental and Supportive Housing Development Incentive’;

Amend DCC charge for Approved Minor Development Incentive to read 
‘Approved Suite Development Incentive’;

Add DCC charges for ‘Approved Neighbourhood Density Development 
Incentive’, ‘RCM2 Zone Development Incentive’ and ‘Rental and Supportive 
Housing Development Incentive’, with a charge of $0.



C
ity

 o
f W

hi
te

ho
rs

e
Fe

es
 a

nd
 C

ha
rg

es
 M

an
ua

l
By

la
w

 2
01

4-
36

 A
pp

en
di

x 
"A

"
Sc

he
du

le
 9

 (P
la

nn
in

g)

1 
of

 2

Ap
pr

ov
ed

Da
te

 F
ee

Fe
e

Ef
fe

ct
iv

e
Un

its

Ad
dr

es
s C

ha
ng

es
ch

an
gi

ng
 a

 m
un

ici
pa

l a
dd

re
ss

no
 re

lo
ca

tio
n

20
0.

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

22
-Ju

n-
98

ea
ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t C

os
t C

ha
rg

e
re

sid
en

tia
l, 

sin
gl

e 
fa

m
ily

un
se

rv
ic

ed
 C

ou
nt

ry
 R

es
id

en
tia

l s
ec

on
da

ry
 S

ui
te

1,
04

0.
00

   
   

   
   

   
  

1-
Ju

l-1
4

pe
r d

w
el

lin
g

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t C

os
t C

ha
rg

e
re

sid
en

tia
l, 

sin
gl

e 
fa

m
ily

ur
ba

n 
se

rv
ic

ed
 lo

t
3,

64
1.

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
1-

Ju
l-1

4
pe

r d
w

el
lin

g

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t C

os
t C

ha
rg

e
re

sid
en

tia
l, 

sin
gl

e 
fa

m
ily

co
un

tr
y 

re
sid

en
tia

l s
er

vi
ce

d 
lo

t
3,

64
1.

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
1-

Ju
l-1

4
pe

r d
w

el
lin

g

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t C

os
t C

ha
rg

e
re

sid
en

tia
l, 

sin
gl

e 
fa

m
ily

co
un

tr
y 

re
sid

en
tia

l n
on

 se
rv

ic
ed

 lo
t

1,
76

9.
00

   
   

   
   

   
  

1-
Ju

l-1
4

pe
r d

w
el

lin
g

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t C

os
t C

ha
rg

e
re

sid
en

tia
l, 

du
pl

ex
du

pl
ex

 h
ou

sin
g

5,
82

6.
00

   
   

   
   

   
  

1-
Ju

l-1
4

pe
r 2

 d
w

el
lin

gs

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t C

os
t C

ha
rg

e
re

sid
en

tia
l, 

m
ul

tip
le

 h
ou

sin
g

to
w

nh
ou

se
2,

91
3.

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
1-

Ju
l-1

4
pe

r d
w

el
lin

g

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t C

os
t C

ha
rg

e
re

sid
en

tia
l, 

m
ul

tip
le

 h
ou

sin
g

ap
ar

tm
en

t
2,

18
5.

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
1-

Ju
l-1

4
pe

r d
w

el
lin

g

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t C

os
t C

ha
rg

e
re

sid
en

tia
l, 

m
ul

tip
le

 h
ou

sin
g

m
ul

tip
le

 d
et

ac
he

d 
dw

el
lin

gs
2,

91
3.

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
1-

Ju
l-1

4
pe

r d
w

el
lin

g

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t C

os
t C

ha
rg

e
re

sid
en

tia
l, 

sin
gl

e 
fa

m
ily

Se
co

nd
ar

y 
Su

ite
Ap

pr
ov

ed
  S

ui
te

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t I
nc

en
tiv

e
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
31

-M
ar

-1
9

pe
r d

w
el

lin
g

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t C

os
t C

ha
rg

e
In

ce
nt

iv
e

To
 a

 m
ax

im
um

 o
f $

50
,0

00
 in

 re
gu

la
r D

CC
s

Ap
pr

ov
ed

 N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
 D

en
sit

y 
In

ce
nt

iv
e

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

10
-F

eb
-2

0
pe

r d
w

el
lin

g

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t C

os
t C

ha
rg

e
In

ce
nt

iv
e

No
 m

ax
im

um
Ap

pr
ov

ed
 R

CM
2 

Zo
ne

 In
ce

nt
iv

e
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
10

-F
eb

-2
0

pe
r d

w
el

lin
g

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t C

os
t C

ha
rg

e
In

ce
nt

iv
e

No
 m

ax
im

um
Ap

pr
ov

ed
 R

en
ta

l a
nd

 S
up

po
rt

iv
e 

Ho
us

in
g 

In
ce

nt
iv

e
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
10

-F
eb

-2
0

pe
r d

w
el

lin
g

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t A

gr
ee

m
en

t
In

ce
nt

iv
e 

M
in

or
75

.0
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

8-
O

ct
-1

3
ea

ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t A

gr
ee

m
en

t
In

ce
nt

iv
e 

Re
nt

al
 a

nd
 S

up
po

rt
iv

e 
Ho

us
in

g 
In

ce
nt

iv
e

20
0.

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

8-
O

ct
-1

3
ea

ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Co

nd
iti

on
al

 U
se

 - 
$5

00
 p

lu
s a

pp
lic

ab
le

 P
er

m
itt

ed
 U

se
 fe

e.
50

0.
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
1-

Ja
n-

15
ea

ch
 +

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
De

sig
na

te
d 

m
un

ic
ip

al
 h

ist
or

ic 
re

so
ur

ce
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
27

-Ja
n-

03
ea

ch
 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Pe

rm
itt

ed
 U

se
: N

on
-re

sid
en

tia
l Z

on
e 

(N
o 

ne
w

 c
on

st
ru

ct
io

n)
27

5.
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
29

-Ja
n-

07
ea

ch
 

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Pe

rm
itt

ed
 U

se
: N

on
-re

sid
en

tia
l Z

on
e(

Ne
w

 C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n)
 $

27
5.

00
 +

 1
.1

0/
sq

.m
et

re
27

5.
00

+
29

-Ja
n-

07
ea

ch
 +

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Pe

rm
itt

ed
 U

se
: R

es
id

en
tia

l Z
on

e
M

ul
tip

le
 H

ou
sin

g 
&

 C
om

m
er

ci
al

 u
se

$2
75

. b
as

e 
pl

us
 $

1.
10

/s
q.

 m
et

er
 (n

ew
 C

on
)  

   
   

   
27

5.
00

 +
22

-Ju
n-

98
ea

ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Pe

rm
itt

ed
 U

se
: R

es
id

en
tia

l Z
on

e
M

ul
tip

le
 H

ou
sin

g 
&

 C
om

m
er

cia
l u

se
$2

75
. (

Ch
an

ge
 o

f u
se

)  
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

 
27

5.
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
1-

Fe
b-

09
ea

ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Pe

rm
itt

ed
 U

se
 A

ll 
Zo

ne
s

Ch
an

ge
 o

f U
se

: n
o 

zo
ni

ng
 re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
75

.0
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1-
Ju

n-
17

ea
ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Pe

rm
itt

ed
 U

se
: R

es
id

en
tia

l Z
on

e
Se

co
nd

ar
y 

co
m

m
er

cia
l u

se
s (

ch
an

ge
 o

f u
se

)
30

.0
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1-
Ja

n-
19

ea
ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Pe

rm
itt

ed
 U

se
: R

es
id

en
tia

l Z
on

e
Se

co
nd

ar
y 

Li
vi

ng
 S

ui
te

 o
r G

ar
de

n 
Su

ite
75

.0
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1-
Ja

n-
19

ea
ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Pe

rm
itt

ed
 U

se
: R

es
id

en
tia

l Z
on

e
sin

gl
e,

 d
up

le
x ,

 tr
ip

le
x &

 to
w

nh
ou

se
75

.0
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1-
Ja

n-
19

ea
ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Pl

ac
em

en
t o

f S
ig

n
25

.0
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1-
Fe

b-
09

ea
ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Sc

hw
at

ka
 La

ke
 W

at
er

fro
nt

 P
ol

icy
 D

oc
k 

Pe
rm

it
An

nu
al

 p
er

m
it

30
0.

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

1-
M

ay
-1

6
ea

ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Sc

hw
at

ka
 La

ke
 W

at
er

fro
nt

 P
ol

icy
 D

oc
k 

Pe
rm

it
Re

fu
nd

ab
le

 d
ep

os
it

1,
50

0.
00

   
   

   
   

   
  

1-
M

ay
-1

6
ea

ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
De

m
ol

iti
on

 o
f a

 S
tr

uc
tu

re
De

m
ol

iti
on

 S
tr

uc
tu

re
 (<

75
 m

2)
75

.0
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1-
Ju

n-
17

ea
ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
De

m
ol

iti
on

 o
f a

 S
tr

uc
tu

re
Co

m
m

er
cia

l
27

5.
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
1-

Fe
b-

09
ea

ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
De

m
ol

iti
on

 o
f a

 S
tr

uc
tu

re
Re

sid
en

tia
l

20
0.

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

1-
Fe

b-
09

ea
ch

By
la

w
 2

02
0-

06

FE
E 

DE
SC

RI
PT

IO
N



C
ity

 o
f W

hi
te

ho
rs

e
Fe

es
 a

nd
 C

ha
rg

es
 M

an
ua

l
By

la
w

 2
01

4-
36

 A
pp

en
di

x 
"A

"
Sc

he
du

le
 9

 (P
la

nn
in

g)

2 
of

 2

Ap
pr

ov
ed

Da
te

 F
ee

Fe
e

Ef
fe

ct
iv

e
Un

its

By
la

w
 2

02
0-

06

FE
E 

DE
SC

RI
PT

IO
N

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Re

lo
ca

tio
n 

of
 a

 S
tr

uc
tu

re
25

.0
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

1-
Fe

b-
09

ea
ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Te

m
po

ra
ry

 U
se

 P
er

m
it

Co
m

m
un

ity
 E

ve
nt

25
.0

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
1-

Fe
b-

09
ea

ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Te

m
po

ra
ry

 U
se

 P
er

m
it

Co
m

m
er

cia
l E

ve
nt

/D
ev

el
op

m
en

t
27

5.
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
1-

Fe
b-

09
ea

ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
Te

m
po

ra
ry

 U
se

 P
er

m
it

Te
m

po
ra

ry
 U

se
 P

er
m

it<
7 

da
ys

25
.0

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
1-

Fe
b-

09
ea

ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
M

ob
ile

 fo
od

 V
en

do
r o

n 
pu

bl
ic 

sit
e

An
nu

al
 p

er
m

it
27

5.
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
1-

M
ay

-1
5

ea
ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it
M

ob
ile

 fo
od

 V
en

do
r o

n 
pu

bl
ic

 si
te

: e
le

ct
ric

ity
 ch

ar
ge

M
on

th
ly

 p
er

m
it

50
.0

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
1-

M
ay

-1
5

ea
ch

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t P

er
m

it 
Re

fu
nd

Va
rie

s
1-

Fe
b-

09
ea

ch

La
nd

 M
an

ag
em

en
t

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t a

gr
ee

m
en

t
20

0.
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
29

-Ja
n-

07
ea

ch

La
nd

 M
an

ag
em

en
t

Ro
ad

 C
lo

su
re

 B
yl

aw
 

50
0.

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

29
-Ja

n-
07

ea
ch

La
nd

 M
an

ag
em

en
t

Su
bd

iv
isi

on
 A

pp
ro

va
l E

xt
en

sio
n

25
0.

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

29
-Ja

n-
07

ea
ch

O
ffi

cia
l C

om
m

un
ity

 P
la

n 
Am

en
dm

en
t F

ee
   

   
   

   
   

(O
CP

 A
m

en
dm

en
t F

ee
)

1,
50

0.
00

   
   

   
   

   
  

1-
Ja

n-
17

ea
ch

Pa
rk

in
g

Pa
ym

en
t i

n 
lie

u 
of

 p
ro

vi
di

ng
 p

ar
ki

ng
 sp

ac
e

Sp
ac

e 
in

 th
e 

CC
, C

PG
 a

nd
 C

M
W

 Z
on

es
18

,7
06

.0
0

   
   

   
   

   
13

-N
ov

-0
1

ea
ch

 sp
ac

e

Pa
rk

in
g

Pa
ym

en
t i

n 
lie

u 
of

 p
ro

vi
di

ng
 p

ar
ki

ng
 sp

ac
e

sp
ac

e 
in

 th
e 

CM
1 

an
d 

CM
2 

zo
ne

s
7,

96
7.

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
13

-N
ov

-0
1

ea
ch

 sp
ac

e

Su
bd

iv
isi

on
 A

pp
lic

at
io

n
Co

nd
om

in
iu

m
 (n

on
 re

fu
nd

ab
le

 fe
e)

$5
0.

00
 p

er
 u

ni
t b

ei
ng

 cr
ea

te
d 

to
 a

 m
ax

im
um

 o
f $

50
0.

00
50

.0
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

8-
Ja

n-
01

ea
ch

Su
bd

iv
isi

on
 A

pp
lic

at
io

n
Co

ns
ol

id
at

io
n 

(n
on

 re
fu

nd
ab

le
 fe

e)
50

.0
0

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
  

22
-Ju

n-
98

ea
ch

Su
bd

iv
isi

on
 A

pp
lic

at
io

n
Su

bd
iv

isi
on

 (n
on

 re
fu

nd
ab

le
 fe

e)
m

in
. c

ha
rg

e 
$2

50
. m

ax
. c

ha
rg

e 
$1

00
0.

ea
. l

ot
 $

10
0

10
0.

00
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

22
-Ju

n-
98

ea
ch

Su
bd

iv
isi

on
 A

pp
lic

at
io

n
Pr

op
er

ty
 li

ne
 a

dj
us

tm
en

t o
r r

ea
lig

nm
en

t (
no

n 
re

fu
nd

ab
le

 fe
e)

ea
. a

dj
us

tm
en

t/
re

al
ig

nm
en

t $
50

50
.0

0
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

  
8-

Ja
n-

01
ea

ch

Va
ria

nc
e,

 B
oa

rd
 o

f-A
pp

ea
l

no
n 

re
fu

nd
ab

le
 fe

e 
ea

ch
 a

pp
ea

l
50

0.
00

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
1-

Fe
b-

05
ea

ch

Zo
ni

ng
 A

m
en

dm
en

t
1,

50
0.

00
   

   
   

   
   

  
8-

O
ct

-1
3

ea
ch

Zo
ni

ng
 A

m
en

dm
en

t
De

sig
na

te
d 

m
un

ici
pa

l h
ist

or
ic 

re
so

ur
ce

-
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

27
-Ja

n-
03

ea
ch

w
rit

te
n 

re
qu

es
t f

ro
m

 a
pp

lic
an

t w
ith

in
 6

 m
on

th
s o

f o
rig

in
al

 d
at

e 
of

 is
su

e-
no

 p
er

m
it 

re
la

te
d 

w
or

k 
on

 si
te

 h
as

 b
eg

un
-d

ed
uc

tio
n 

of
 $

55
. o

r 2
0%

 o
f f

ee
 w

hi
ch

ev
er

 is
 M

OR
E.



1

CITY OF WHITEHORSE
BYLAW 2020-08

A bylaw to authorize a local improvement charge for urban electrification

WHEREAS in 1989 council approved the concept of assisting taxpayers to bring electrical 
service to their property via the imposition of a local improvement charge; and
WHEREAS the owners of the property located at LOT 28 Ravens Ridge Subdivision, 190 
War Eagle Way, have applied under the Urban Electrification Program for a local 
improvement to assist them in providing power to the property; and
WHEREAS sections 267 to 271 of the Municipal Act require that a bylaw to provide for 
and authorize a local improvement will contain specific information pertaining to the local 
improvement and the procedures to be followed in passing the bylaw; and
WHEREAS the actual cost of the said construction is estimated to be $7,980.00 of which 
$7,980.00 will be raised by way of a special tax assessment, and 
WHEREAS in order to construct and complete the project it will be necessary to fund up to 
the sum of $7,980.00 from the City; and
WHEREAS the estimated life of the project exceeds ten years;
NOW THEREFORE the council of the municipality of the City of Whitehorse, in open 
meeting assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS:

1. A work of local improvement, being the electrification of the property described as Lot 
28 Ravens Ridge Subdivision, Plan 2013-0080, Roll #3550002800, property class 
RSC, located at 190 War Eagle Way, is hereby authorized.

2. The parcel of land benefiting from this work of local improvement is as set out in section 
1 of this bylaw.

3. The total cost of the local improvement has been determined by ATCO Electric Yukon.
4. The cost of the work is to be paid for by way of a special assessment to be levied on 

the parcel described in section 1 of this bylaw.
5. For the purposes aforesaid, the sum of up to $7,980.00 is to be funded by the City at 

large.
6. The sum of $7,980.00 is to be collected by way of a special assessment as provided in 

section 7 of this bylaw.
7. There is hereby imposed on the land described in section 1 of this bylaw a special 

assessment under the Assessment and Taxation Act. This equates to an annual fee
in the amount of $981.41 for each of ten years.  This sum is the amount necessary to 
pay the annual amount of interest and principal falling due in each year, computed at 
the prime business rate of 3.95% as at January 22, 2020.  The said special assessment 
shall be in addition to all other rates and taxes.



Local Improvement for Urban Electrification Bylaw 2020-08

2

(1) The property owners have the option of paying the total property charge prior to 
its due date, or of paying the equal annual instalments each of ten years, 
commencing on July 2, 2021.

(2) The property owners may reduce the balance owing on the total property charge 
by making a lump sum payment in any year during the life of the bylaw.  Such 
lump sum payments shall be accepted only in the month of January each year.

(3) The property owners may also pay off the balance owing at any point during the 
ten-year life of the bylaw.

8. The provisions of this bylaw shall come into full force and effect upon final passage 
thereof.

NOTICE GIVEN: February 3, 2020
FIRST and SECOND READING: February 10, 2020
THIRD READING and ADOPTION:

______________________________
Mayor

______________________________
Assistant City Clerk



CITY OF WHITEHORSE

BYLAW 2020-09

A bylaw to rename College Drive.

WHEREAS section 265 of the Municipal Act (R. S. Y. 2002) provides that Council 
may by bylaw name a road or subdivision; and

WHEREAS Whitehorse City Council adopted the Municipal Addressing and Naming 
Policy to guide the assignment of names to streets, subdivisions, parks, recreation 
areas, and City-owned buildings and facilities within the municipal boundaries of the 
City of Whitehorse; and

WHEREAS it is deemed desirable that College Drive, located adjacent to the Takhini 
North Neighbourhood, be officially renamed as University Drive;

NOW THEREFORE the Council of the municipality of the City of Whitehorse, in open 
meeting assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS:

1. College Drive, located north of the Takhini North Neighbourhood, is hereby 
renamed “University Drive”, as indicated on the sketch attached hereto as 
Appendix “A” and forming part of this bylaw; and

2. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect upon the final passing thereof.

FIRST and SECOND READING:
THIRD READING and ADOPTION:

______________________________
Mayor

______________________________
Assistant City Clerk



R
an

ge
 R

oa
d

50 0 50 100 150 20025

Meters

BYLAW 2020-09:
A bylaw to rename College Drive located adjacent to the Takhini North 
Neighbourhood, Whitehorse to University Drive.

LEGEND
SUBJECT
AREA

CITY OF WHITEHORSE
BYLAW 2020-09
APPENDIX 'A'

SUBJECT AREA
Rename College Drive
to University Drive

Yukon Young 
Offenders Facility

Whitehorse
Correctional Centre

Yukon College
(Yukon University)

Pepsi Softball 
Centre

PART 66’ ROAD, Plan 26830 LTO

ROAD, QUAD 105 D/11, 
Plan 95-50 LTO 

!

Ü



CITY OF WHITEHORSE

BYLAW 2020-13

A bylaw to amend Umbrella Capital Budget Amendment Bylaw 2020-02

WHEREAS section 239 of the Municipal Act provides that council may by bylaw 
establish a procedure to authorize and verify expenditures that vary from the capital 
expenditure program; and
WHEREAS a budget adjustment for the Mount McIntyre Ski Bridge Repair project 
made in 2019 in accordance with the procedures outlined in Budget Bylaw 2018-58
resulted in an increase in total expenditures above what was approved in the 2019
to 2022 Capital Expenditure Program; and
WHEREAS it is deemed desirable that Umbrella Capital Budget Amendment
Bylaw 2020-02 be amended to reflect the Mount McIntyre Ski Bridge Repair project 
authorized by resolution 2019-24-02;
NOW THEREFORE the council of the municipality of the City of Whitehorse, in open 
meeting assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS:

1. Schedule “1” attached to and forming part of Bylaw 2020-02 is hereby amended 
by increasing the Mount McIntyre Ski Bridge Repair Project in the amount of  
$756,026.15 to a total of $954,026.15, and increasing the overall total of 
amendments made to the 2019–2022 Capital Expenditure Program throughout 
2019 to $52,092.296.

2. Appendix “A” to Bylaw 2018-58, the 2019 to 2022 Capital Expenditure Program,
is hereby deleted and replaced by a new Appendix “A” attached hereto and 
forming part of this bylaw.

3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect upon the final passing thereof.

FIRST and SECOND READING:
THIRD READING and ADOPTION:

__________________________________
Mayor

__________________________________
Assistant City Clerk










